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            FOREWORD

         
   
         There was a time when journalists, like businessmen, diplomats, contract workers and the other strange characters who work in dangerous places for a living, had to look after their own safety. No bodyguards, no body armour, no nothing. But those were the days before we became natural targets for the world’s terrorists – and before the habit caught on of suing one’s employers if something went wrong. The journalists who covered the first Gulf War in 1991 had no security advisors and scarcely any body armour. My team in Baghdad had two flak jackets between six of us; dishing them out wasn’t an easy task.
         

         Twelve years later, in the second Gulf War, even the journalists who covered the situation in Doha, far away from any possible threat, were given full nuclear, biological and chemical warfare suits, and had excellent ex-special forces characters working with them. Some elderly hacks did a lot of harrumphing about all these changes; it was better in the old days, they said. Not me – but then I had the enormous benefit of working with Craig Summers.

         Craig was, it’s fair to say, a mildly rough diamond in those early stages. A veteran of the Falklands War, he was tough and imposing; when he and I walked down the street in Northern Iraq in the run-up to the American-led invasion of Iraq in 2003, I never had the slightest fear of being attacked. When the critical moment of danger came, and an American navy plane managed to drop a 1,000 lb bomb on the wrong people (as American planes have traditionally done in war after war), Craig’s training kicked in superbly. He did what he could for our dying translator, and he salvaged all our television gear and even our personal bags from our burning car, with explosives and live ammunition going off all round him. If ever there was a moment when close protection showed its value, it was then.
         

         In the years that followed, Craig and I worked together in various parts of the globe, as he describes in this excellent and very accurate account. I always knew I’d be fine as long as Craig was there. And although he became smoother, and learned to adopt the ways of the BBC executive, people still didn’t mess with us when we wandered round the streets of Baghdad or Kabul together.

         Now Craig has gone on to grander things, and I don’t have the advantage of working with him any more. I miss his company, and I miss the sense of security he exuded. No one was better at finding good places to sleep, good vehicles to drive, decent food, a cup of tea when there was nothing else. I used to try to give the impression he was my personal bodyguard, though he was always a great deal more than that. But he was not simply superb to work with, he was great company; even if I sometimes had to ask him not to tell any more of his ripest stories.

         This book is a great account of his career so far, and an accurate if generous one, too. I count myself extremely lucky to have worked alongside him so often over the years.

         
             

         

         John Simpson

      

      
    

  
    
      
         
         
 
         
            END OF THE ROAD

         
 
         Cheeky bastard.
 
         
            Not really an office-based person, strong aversion to paperwork … rarely seen at a desk – unless it’s doing his expenses. If not, he was at other people’s desks doing what Craig really does in the office, which is generating his next trip out of the office. Often on the most tenuous of security or safety reasons, Craig was always ready to leap on a plane – somehow always at least Upper Class if not Business Class. It’s been a colourful and action-packed ten years.
            

         
 
         That’s how Paul Greeves, Head of BBC Safety, summed me up at my leaving do on 19 August 2011. It’s also why I was leaving. After a decade travelling the world, filming undercover at football tournaments and all but snorting coke with gangsters in the name of News, I had taken redundancy. With cuts being made to our High Risk Team of six, the Beeb wanted me more desk-bound and less on the road. The man had said it himself: Craig Summers didn’t work like that.
         
 
         At first I thought I had been forced out by Paul Easter. He had arrived as my boss in February and we had a blazing row straightaway. With me in Iraq for the elections, he had taken one look at the calendar and rung me in Baghdad. ‘I’ve cancelled your trip to America,’ he’d said. ‘You can do it on videophone or over the phone.’ 
         
 
         I was livid. ‘That’s a £250,000 project agreed by Newsgathering. You can’t just do that. You don’t just buy armoured cars over the phone.’
         
 
         I knew what people at the BBC wanted. None of my journalists wanted to read a 25-page-long Health and Safety form – and you couldn’t run an op from thousands of miles away in London. When it came to security, those reporters cared about three things: can we get new kit, have we got the right vehicles and will we do it better next time? That was the kind of work I was into but this was the new politics.
 
         Over the past decade, like everyone else, the BBC had gone Health and Safety mad.
 
         But I left with mixed emotions. I’d had some great times and worked with some brilliant people. Many of those whom I had come to know over the years weren’t there to hear Paul speak because of the Libyan coverage – my last job had been organising the crews for the London riots that summer, ironically where my work had begun all those years ago.
 
         Paul Easter had asked me what would stop me leaving. ‘£5,000 and let me do my job,’ I’d replied, but I only felt it was a token question. It had never been about the money – I could have earned more cash as a freelance. I loved the BBC. I had only had two proper jobs in my life and gradually over the years the two jobs had intertwined. First I was military, and then I was risk assessment-cum-journo. On both jobs, I was often undercover.
         
 
         As a soldier in Bosnia I had watched the way Colonel Bob Stewart operated with Kate Adie in tow. That excited me. It was the first inkling I had about making the transition from army to media, and from that moment all I did was watch the BBC. A decade on, that great generation of classic reporters was beginning to fade and the Corporation was swamped with middle managers pulling purse strings. Everything from 9/11 to the Freedom of Information Act had changed the landscape. I didn’t know where the next golden era of journos would be coming from, nor that once common determination to get the story that I had so admired. In Alex Crawford and Stuart Ramsay at Sky, I could see that the dream was still alive.
         
 
         I still adored the BBC and would always watch the Ten but I was done, and there would never now be another Craig Summers in the Beeb. Over a period of six months, Sky had been courting me to become their Broadcast Security Operations Manager; an unpublicised incident in Afghanistan had set their alarm bells ringing, and they were looking to recruit somebody with my skill set. They were working in really tough terrain out there.
         
 
         Head of News Fran Unsworth took me out to lunch to Jamie Oliver’s restaurant to tell me she couldn’t believe I was going. One of the assignment editors, Jonathan Paterson, told me it was crazy that they wanted me desk-bound, and my former producer Peter Leng told me he was devastated not to be going on the road again with John Simpson and me. As the alcohol flowed that night, I reminded myself not to put my foot in it as I so often had in the past. Don’t be bitter, I told myself. Be polite, and walk out of there with your head held high.
 
         It took me back to Gibraltar in 1984 when I had been on a mini exercise in the army stripping down vehicles. ‘That fucking wanker put the radio in the back of the vehicle when we need it in the front,’ I shouted entering the training room.
 
         ‘So I am the wanker, am I?’ said the officer from behind the desk.
 
         ‘Yes, you are Sir,’ I continued.
 
         I got bollocked and was reminded of protocol!
 
         I didn’t want to leave with a ruined reputation. Anything could happen and I might be back here in the future but the truth remained that since Easter had arrived, I was no longer the first of the High Risk Team out of the door, preparing the ground for a global network of reporters in wildly varying scenarios. Four had left since he had arrived. Forty years of experience in this field down the drain.
 
         It was a far cry from where it had all begun. 

      

      
    

  
    
      
         
         

         
            HUMBLE ORIGINS, FALSE DAWNS

         
   
         I was born in Woolwich Military Hospital in 1960. My dad was in the army and my childhood took me to Malaya, Germany and back home to the UK. Predictably, I hated school and was out by sixteen. I became an apprentice sprayer at the local garage on my way to becoming the real deal Phil Mitchell – their speciality was cuts ’n’ shuts, which wasn’t illegal at the time. I had no qualifications: basketball at county standard was as good as it got. Of course, I had also been in trouble with the law.
         

         Bored, like so many teenagers, and apathetic to education, my mates and I used to pass a café with Whitbread lorries outside of it – your classic truck stop fry-up gaff. We were thrill-seekers. Well, the uncovered cases in the back of the vehicles were too much to resist – and we didn’t try to, until the day we got caught. My dad had me straight home from school that night and the police let us off with a warning.

         Stupid arrogant me learned nothing. A week later, it was more of the same. At the age of fifteen, I was pinching cars with my mates in Bow, East London.

         This time, when the police rang home, Dad said: ‘I’m not coming to collect him, leave him in jail overnight.’

         The next morning he came to court with me and bullshitted the judge. ‘I’ll make it sure it doesn’t happen again,’ he said. ‘I’ve got him something lined up in the army.’ 

         I was fined thirty quid – a lot of money back then – and from court I went straight to the Careers Office. My father had already been on the phone to some old contacts. But I was a Jack the Lad from East London. I didn’t want the discipline.
         

         My first port of call was Nuneaton in 1977. I hated it instantly. I had joined the Boys Service Junior Leaders Royal Artillery. Like the dickhead that I was, I turned up on the train with four cans of lager to use as bargaining tools! It was only an ex-Hells Angel, Lieutenant Dickey, who brought me to my senses, telling me I could make a good soldier and I should stick with it. He would put me down for Commando training, and that would enable me to fly around the world. I owe my twenty-three years in the army to my dad and Dickey.
         

         From there, I joined 29 Commando in Plymouth, deployed to the Falklands during the war, before going to Belize, and next spent five years alongside the Special Boat Forces in Poole, Dorset. I went undercover for two years in Northern Ireland, toured Bosnia and did a UN tour of Cyprus. I had been there, done that and bought the t-shirt. When I was twenty-one, in 1982, the Falklands War was unbelievable; in 1991 I was itching to get to the Gulf. It was in my blood. I had to get to the heart of the action.

         In Bosnia, the worst moment was witnessing the ethnic cleansing of Kiseljak, about thirty miles west of Sarajevo. The Mujahideen were rampant and told us to fuck off. Villagers were screaming, buildings were burning, and we just had to drive past. Afterwards, nobody believed that our soft-skinned vehicles had been down that road, where only armoured cars were supposed to go. It was horrific, not so much for the blood and guts and appalling racial slaughter, but for our helplessness at being unable to intervene.

         For my last eighteen months, I returned to London to train the Territorial Army. I had also had a brief dalliance with the Foreign Legion but was turned away for being too pissed, which left me broke and abandoned on French soil. 

         In the process, my first marriage came and went – collateral damage in a typical military lifestyle of combat, booze and birds. Anita and I fell apart in 1990. Five years later, I got together with Sue, who would become my rock. I have two daughters from my first marriage.
         

         After twenty-three years in the army, I’d had enough and the TA unit was being disbanded. At forty, I thought I was heading for the knacker’s yard. I’d sweep the streets, drive a bus or deliver the mail – whatever it took. Even then a desk job was never going to be for me. On 8 October 2000, with nearly a quarter of a century of service and a lifetime of travel and adrenalin behind me, I left the army, feeling lucky but uncertain. I didn’t have a clue what to do.

         I was on eighteen months’ notice to close the TA unit and clear the books at the office in East Ham. They still needed someone to turn up, but I was on my own. For six months, I went through the motions, paid, but walking in dead men’s shoes.

         The game was up. I knew what I wanted to do, but I had no idea how to get there. I would advise current affairs producers on their investigative programmes on a freelance basis, and I would take on any other work between jobs. The problem, as I soon found out, was that I was always between jobs.

         In the summer of 2000 I had formed KCM Security with Mike Basson and Kev Sweeney as my partners. I told Sue we would give it until April 2001 to see if it could work. Part of the problem was that Mike and Kev already had other jobs: I was the only person on it full-time.

         It had been a call from an ex-regiment mate, Chris Cobb-Smith, at the end of April 2000 while I was still going through the motions with the TA, that had planted this seed.

         Chris was safety and security advisor at the BBC. ‘Would you like to work as a back-watcher for the BBC at the May Day Riots?’ he asked.

         ‘How much wedge?’ I replied.

         ‘About £150.’ 
         

         I didn’t hesitate to agree, even though I didn’t yet know what a back-watcher was. This was too good to be true. It was a brilliant opportunity to do something different. My job was to protect the camera crews from the anti-capitalist rioters, known bizarrely as The Wombles.
         

         Early the next day, I met Chris and Tony Loughran at the BBC building on the Embankment. (Little did I know that Tony would end up being my boss.) I was assigned to a camera crew whose brief was to follow the parades. Wherever there was trouble, we had to get in among it. Nicholas Witchell was the reporter, and this was his first experience in all his years as a journalist of having a back-watcher. My God did it show.

         ‘We’ll be guided by you,’ they said to me, ‘as long as you understand we have got to get pictures.’

         ‘I’m happy to take you in there,’ I explained. ‘I’m public-order trained and I’ll take you in as far as you can go.’

         Their preparation was a joke, but I hadn’t been part of the planning. Had there even been any planning – given that I only got the call the night before? They passed me a small rucksack. Inside was a first aid kit, a fire extinguisher and a couple of baseball caps. This was the BBC’s riot kit, and there wasn’t even enough for our team of four. If anything, it would identify us as undercover police.

         I later found out that this all came from a store room at the bottom of the BBC building, which was run by Health and Safety – you got what you could, and you wrote it down in the BBC book. The Beeb were sending people to war zones around the world with a security kit that looked like it had been bought at a jumble sale. Poorly managed, under-resourced and with no accountability, it had disaster written all over it.
         

         But I was buzzing. It was fantastic to be working for the mighty BBC. Me, Craig Summers, with zero education, standing next to Nick Witchell, TV legend. Admittedly, he was your classic ginger-haired public schoolboy, who looked like he would jump a mile if you shouted at him, but he was still the business. 
         

         I wanted to go looking for trouble. I was desperate for a call saying it had all kicked off nearby. The truth was that bar a few empty beer cans chucked, it was relatively peaceful.
         

         My military head told me not to switch off. You were always on your guard – we call it sleeping with one eye open. I would check side streets, mentally prepare escape routes, talking through in my mind where we might get blocked in, always listening out for the alarm bell of the slightly intoxicated hitting the streets. I had the same drive and awareness I’d had in Northern Ireland but now it was different. I had to protect not just Witchell but also the cameraman, Tony Dolce. The reporter could voice anything but without the shots, his story had no legs. I recognised that the cameraman was key and bombarded him with questions.

         ‘How do you want to play this?’ I asked Tony.

         ‘I will only have one eye on the lens,’ he explained. ‘But I won’t be able to see what’s around me.’

         ‘I’ll grab hold of you if I have to and pull you back if needs be,’ I reassured him.

         He told me that was fine and I loved it. Just like Nick, he’d never had a back-watcher before. This is what I was trained for. Now though, I could see a whole new world of job opportunities unfolding before me. I knew I’d love to do this full-time.

         For years, there hadn’t been any support: the risk they ran was part and parcel of the job. The new duty of care BBC, the Health and Safety culture, and the death of journalist John Schofield in Kosovo in 1995 had clearly begun to define a new era. You couldn’t just wander into a war zone any more with the letters B-B-C on the side of your vehicle. The rules of engagement had changed, both in terms of the enemy and of the necessary paperwork dictated by the modern era. I hoped this would be the beginning of something where I would finally get to show my value.

         Passing the entrance of 10 Downing Street, we were forced against the railings by the police cordon repelling the demonstrators. They were said to be targeting McDonald’s, Gap and Starbucks. The line held firm, which surprised me, pushing the protesters further up the road towards Trafalgar Square. Being penned in really pissed me off. I’d thought that as news crew we could just wander across the line, and I told the cops so. Just as the police baton-charged the rioters, I grabbed Tony’s jacket and yanked him close to me.
         

         ‘We’re getting through,’ I shouted at one of them.

         Somehow, we got pushed against the wall which Tony was filming. I noticed demonstrators climbing onto the roof of McDonald’s and pointed them out to him. A Sky cameraman with no back-watcher was knocked to the floor, but we got right into the entrance of the restaurant. And I’d just happened to have looked in that direction, as I tried to either stay one step ahead of the police or move away up the side of the road.

         I was on a massive adrenalin rush, and loving the abuse of the great unwashed – mostly students lobbing burgers and beer at us with the odd punch. It was comedy violence, and using a burger as their weapon of choice defined their stupidity. I could more than handle this and I knew it would only go so far. It was nothing to some of the stuff I had seen at war. My military undercover training had taught me that nine times out of ten there was always a way out of a situation and that you should restrain yourself as long as possible. These louts were no threat to us, and within five or six minutes the police were on to them.

         ‘Enough?’ I turned to ask Tony.

         ‘Yep, we’ve got enough,’ he replied, and we retreated.

         But I felt great. I had kept them safe but, more importantly, I had given them the story, and that gave me the buzz. My soldier’s instinct seemed to be exactly in synch with what the journos wanted – where there was danger I would protect them, and where that danger took us was probably the story.

         ‘That was brilliant.’ Tony was over the moon, thanking me for pulling him free without knocking his arm holding the camera, which was still running. Nick Witchell thanked me too. 
         

         By 21.00, my feet were killing me and the story was dead. A few protesters were out of it and there was still the odd sporadic incident but we were done. I knew I had earned my £150 as we trudged back through Parliament Square, and I really felt part of something as I carried Tony’s tripod back to the BBC. When I got home at 02.00, Sue was in bed and I was still buzzing. I knew exactly what I wanted to do and would call Chris Cobb-Smith in the morning. I couldn’t wait to get up.
         

         I rang and rang and nobody answered. Nor did anybody from the Beeb call me to say well done. Nothing. I hadn’t realised that was how it worked. I was all up for the next job, desperate to know when it was happening, but there was no next job. It was back to the TA and pretending to check the paperwork, playing caretaker. I mostly sat at home, twiddling my thumbs.

         Then it happened, out of the blue, nearly a month later. ‘I’ve got something here which I think will be right up your street.’ Chris was back on.

         ‘Count me in,’ I said without knowing what the job was.

         There was no ‘you did a really good job last time’. The conversation was short and blunt, typically military on both sides. I needed to get to White City to meet the Panorama team immediately. They wanted me to go undercover at Euro 2000 looking for hooligans.
         

         This was what I’d been waiting for. I was a massive football fan and had been involved in a scrap or two myself. My only concern was that I didn’t want to bump into anyone I knew. The next day I was straight into town to meet the producer, Tom Giles. On this occasion the brief was simple.

         ‘Can you film undercover?’ he asked.

         ‘Yeah,’ I replied.

         I knew how to work a small DV camera – but even if I didn’t, I would have bullshitted. I had to get on the plane and show them what I could do. With just a conversation as short as that it was probably already a done deal, but I didn’t know that. I was heading for the Euros on the BBC. I couldn’t believe my luck. 
         

         I was assigned to work with Tom Giles. We were an unlikely couple – he was your classic BBC type, well educated and from the John Simpson school of journalism. Then there was me, a schoolboy drop-out who’d spent his life in the army. First things first, on any undercover job – what was our cover story?
         

         Before heading out to Holland and Belgium, we decided that we had been at school together and both had military parents based in Germany. I could play that part easily and Tom would just follow suit. I knew from the old days that the key to the other you is keeping it simple. Try to over-complicate who you are, and you’re in the shit. We stuck to Craig and Tom – that made sense. I didn’t want to start calling him ‘Paul’ and then shout ‘Tom’ across a crowded bar. Our real names would do. He knew his football, too, so I wasn’t concerned on that front – even though with his bouffant hair he didn’t really look like an England fan!
         

         Very quickly, I became comfortable wearing the undercover gear. The camera was a buttonhole in my shirt with wires leading down to a belt underneath. I had the power supply on one side and the camera on the other. A key fob went into my pocket; if I pressed it, a red light would come on and we were filming. Battery life was between one and two hours, and if I needed to change them, I would do so in the toilet behind a closed door. The temptation to keep checking we were rolling never left me.

         I couldn’t let the gear dominate who I was – the need to stay in character was paramount. If I got in a fight or stood up too quickly, my shirt could show my equipment. In the absolute worst case scenario, I would come clean and say we were working for Panorama.
         

         But I knew I could handle myself. I told myself to see it as a normal job, and that meant having full awareness going into any building. Stay close to the doors, never get stuck smack bang in the middle, and always look for exit points. Be aware and keep one eye open. A cursory glance to Tom should be enough to send a message. Mingle with the fans and drink the night away, but only down half the pint. Eye up the flashpoints and join in with the England songs, I told myself. I knew I was an easy casting for the role. Frankly, my two lives had now collided and I wondered why I hadn’t done this sooner. I was getting paid for it, I didn’t have to justify every expense with a receipt, and I was on tour with the BBC. My biggest fear was letting Tom down. I knew straightaway that this was the life I wanted. I was working undercover for Panorama – the flagship news programme on the BBC!
         

         In all we were a team of seven, and it wasn’t hard work. Go where the England shirts took you and follow the whiff of alcohol. We did have prior intelligence, of course. You don’t need to have followed England at major tournaments to know that we were probably going to be onto a winner. Violence had never been too far away over the years. Specifically, though, we were hunting the Cardiff City Soul Crew; in particular, Annis Abraham.

         We knew about Abraham from previous incidents, and we knew he was definitely there. Tom A had also followed over a couple of the known Cardiff and West Ham boys, Shane Weldon and Matthew Marion. Thugs with no chance or intention of getting a ticket in Charleroi had turned up for the ruck. The stadium itself housed only 30,000 – there were at least 40,000 England fans on the street, and you could hear them on every corner, moaning about the fact that they had been on the piss all day long and hadn’t got wasted. (The authorities had watered down the beer.) Equally, their musical back catalogue left a lot to be desired. ‘No surrender to the IRA’, ‘Ten German Bombers’ and ‘Two World Wars and One World Cup’ were the particular favourites.

         I was soon reminded that if I hadn’t been this side of the undercover filming, I could have been on the other. My mate Wolfy – a Wolves fan, obviously – recognised me in the mêlée.
         

         ‘What are you doing here?’ he asked.

         ‘I’m doing stuff for the BBC,’ I openly confessed without thinking about it. 

         I made my excuses that I had to pick up my ticket and left abruptly. Deep down, I had known I would bump into him and I trusted him. He was a former colleague from the army and no thug at all. But the chance meeting kept me in the zone and prepared mentally to stay in the role. It just planted that seed of doubt that I might run into the old school Inter City West Ham hardcore. I needed to avoid that all costs.
         

         Either way, we had been given the story on a plate. England had been drawn against Germany in this tiny pocket-sized venue. The Panorama show was due to air in days. Despite a few minor scuffles, and the striking image of the local police firing the water cannons at drunken English fans, we knew what we were all waiting for. There was no way it wouldn’t kick off.
         

         By the evening of the game I was paired with Sam Bagnall. We were a more natural couple. Tom had done a good job in character on the ground, mingling with the fans and singing those awful songs but Sam was a bit more Arsenal and a bit less posh – the casting was perfect. I didn’t know how Tom would handle himself in a scrap.

         At our meeting to assign new roles, I asked a couple of key questions. I was still new to this and wanted to know how far I could go. I was keen to stay in the role, and if I had to throw a punch, I would. If I could chant and sing, so be it. I was told not to start anything, even if it made us look cowards in the heat of the moment. Join in – yes. Pull out – if needs be. Go with it, but don’t be the star of the show. I knew I wouldn’t have to wait long, but I had to do it the BBC way, despite my instincts to let it kick off. I’d been told that if nothing happened, nothing happened. We couldn’t engineer it. I had no doubts, though. It was England–Germany after all.
         

         Sam and I had hit the streets around 10.30 to get established. Hooligans were predictable and territorial – they would always be attracted to a huge plaza, a water fountain and bars round a square. It was a natural magnet. Throw into the mix some Turks, clearly just there for trouble, and, as I said to Sam, it was an accident waiting to happen. Bare chests, face paint, and the Union Jack draped across the body were the style of the day in searing heat. There was no doubt that alcohol would light the blue touchpaper – regardless of what happened on the pitch.
         

         Three-quarters of an hour before kick-off, you just knew the temperature was rising. I was keeping an eye on the police so I never saw who threw the first punch but it just went mental. The England fans were edging towards the German fans and plastic chairs and pots of beer were raining on the police. Sam and I were about half a row back from the front, war cries of ‘Come on, we’ll have you’ all around us. These weren’t the usual diehard England scum – these were the young wannabes wanting to make a name for themselves, keen to prove to the old school that they were hardcore in their first fights on England duty.

         The German fans got up and started to move towards us. I was loving it, thinking, ‘Come on, let’s get the ball rolling and let’s get stuck in.’ I knew it was going to get tasty.

         As the two sides came together, I couldn’t locate any of our ‘targets’. The police came tearing in and then I spotted the water cannon coming at us. I grabbed Sam and we retreated round the corner. ‘We don’t want to get hit by that,’ I warned him.

         Within seconds, the police had cleared the square. I had never seen this technique used before. It was like something out of Mad Max and the police didn’t care if they ran anyone over. This was a no-nonsense approach. We made our way away as the fans tore down our street, knowing that the overt crew had the shots with the big camera from the top end of the square. We decided to walk the kilometre or so to the ground.
         

         The fans had to make their way through mesh fencings but just tore them down, battering them with batons. Most of them didn’t have tickets. The stupidity of having such a massive game here between two teams with ‘previous’ couldn’t have been more obvious. The police’s only response was to go in heavy handed, regardless of legitimacy. Still the songs reigned – despite ‘No surrender to the IRA’ being completely out of context at an England v Germany game!
         

         By kick off time, we were back in the square to see what was happening. The police and their vans had formed a massive cordon; we retreated to a café further down. When Alan Shearer scored the winner, the place erupted and so did we. But our work was done. The call had come in to get to Brussels. Our information was that the Cardiff boys were heading there.

         The fixture list was now irrelevant. England had to play Romania to qualify, and Romania didn’t have football hooligans. All roads now led to the Belgium capital. Turkey were playing Belgium the night before England’s crunch match – that was now the new flashpoint, and Panorama was due on air hours after the final whistle of the England game.
         

         We didn’t have a great deal to make a show that was anything different to what you had come to expect from England fans. It wasn’t really shocking because we had all grown up with it. Everything hinged on Brussels but we were making Panorama on the fly with a small amount of panic. We had some footage from Eindhoven, trouble in the square and the stadium at Charleroi, but we didn’t have the money shot. Turkey versus Belgium, a throng of England’s worst, and the Cardiff fans being spotted in Brussels was our only hope.
         

         I had underestimated Tom and Sam’s knowledge, contacts and tip-offs. They were passionate about making the programme and exposing the England hooligans. I hadn’t been part of the intelligence about the Cardiff fans prior to the trip. Among their hooligans was actually a current player, Dai Thomas. Let’s remember, Wales hadn’t even qualified – as usual. These fans were there only to cause trouble.

         Caught up in the heat of events, I had made the mistake of thinking the story was dictated by the action on the pitch.
         

         I had a picture of Annis Abraham in my head – something I was able to do through a military technique called Kim’s Game, which is used to test your memory to develop a semi-photographic recall. After just one sighting of his picture, I knew who we were looking for. I had also learned that he was into dodgy nightclubs and young girls, and that he didn’t drink. His hangers-on would be surrounding him but he was the one I was looking for.
         

         Buzzing at the thought of making my first show for the BBC, I considered myself an outsider, soaking up all the nervous energy, listening to the jargon but fascinated by the speculation as to whether they could make sixty minutes out of the hours of footage that we had taken. I wanted more of this.

         Deep in the Grand Place area of Brussels, we had identified O’Reilly’s as the focal point. The England game was not until the next day, so there was no need to go out too early. We left it quite late before pitching up. Our overt camera team was also out filming. We were specifically hunting Abraham. In the corner, a group of England fans were doing lines of coke off the table as I entered.

         ‘Fuck, where’s Sam?’ I thought.

         He was right behind me, filming. We weren’t there to make a drugs exposé but it certainly added to the picture. I weighed up in my head what I would do if I found myself at the same table. I decided I would go as far as I could and then withdraw. That was the nature of working undercover.

         Outside, someone shouted: ‘They’ve got knives!’ England fans were stirring it with the Turks and the Belgium nationals.

         My adrenalin rush was on. I couldn’t ask Sam if I should join them – that would be too indiscreet. I was slightly reeled in and carried away with the chanting – my ears were ringing with ‘No surrender to the IRA’ and it was rammed inside. We still had nothing bar the random afternoon scuffle and the odd shot of Abraham walking the streets. I was smart enough to realise the potential of the situation we were in and the need to be patient, but at this point we didn’t have a show.

         The plain-clothes coppers were standing by, ridiculously obvious in their jeans, lightweight jackets, bum bags worn at the front, cropped hair, and easily visible ear pieces. I wouldn’t have been so open myself – they made it pretty obvious who they were, despite having said that they would keep a low profile until needed. Any football hooligan would have clocked them.
         

         All I could think about was whether Abraham was here.

         A mass of England fans charged through the door, the police trying to follow them in. It was smoky; people were jumping. What followed felt like twenty seconds but probably lasted half an hour. Riot police appeared from nowhere. Sam and I tried to force our way to the door – basic instinct, remember the exits. ‘They’re attacking us,’ people were crying. I could see the riot police in body armour appear outside from nowhere. Annis Abraham was round the corner, having been picked up by the overt crew. Sam and I didn’t know this.

         I shielded Sam so as not to blow our cover when he rang the producers to say it had all gone mental. We had to walk the fine line between staying in character and communicating a message to the guys on the ground. Sam knew that we needed the outside shots and I wanted him to sound as if he was ringing his mates to tell them it was all going nuts at O’Reilly’s and we needed back up. As long as he sounded like a thug, it didn’t matter, except for the fact that we didn’t have an exit strategy. The inside doors were locked and there was nowhere to turn. Tables and chairs were flying everywhere. Much as I loved it, this was the worst-case scenario. How the fuck do we get out of here? Yet the magnet of danger made me want to stay.

         Professionally, I was miffed because I hadn’t seen it coming and I had been looking for Annis Abraham, not considering the exit strategy. ‘Have you got enough?’ I asked Sam. ‘Do you need any more?’

         Sam was fine. He had plenty. The best plan was to leave. Plus, the police weren’t taking any chances and I didn’t want to declare my hand. I needed to react quickly, and I didn’t want to be caught. I could blow the whole thing if I didn’t think smart.

         The hardcore kept the front of the bar blocked; I was aiming for the side door, just to the right of the café where Annis Abraham was hanging out. 

         As we were leaving, the police fired tear gas into the bar. We missed it by seconds. I had made the right call to abandon just as the room filled with smoke, leaving most with watering eyes. Of course, the more they rubbed, the itchier they got, as disorientation took over.
         

         Sam and I escaped but there was no Annis. I did spy the overt team behind the police line, which was a great sign. We had been at the heart of the action and I had got Sam out safely. I had taken him as close to the danger as possible without endangering him.

         Job done, and well.

         I knew we had done as much as we could and the right thing was to disassociate from the scene, avoid arrest and preserve the tapes. Later when I watched them back, they showed our friend from Cardiff arriving at O’Reilly’s just seconds too late, filmed coming out of the shop next door, playing the innocent party. The police had also fired a tear gas canister there. Our hunch had been correct.

         We handed the footage to a runner to rush back to the Bureau. The show was to air in less than twenty-four hours. I loved it. Out by the skin of our teeth: another few seconds and we could have our kit ripped off and ended up beaten, arrested, or without a programme. I was made up that we had evacuated in time, but knackered too. I went to bed and passed out until eleven the next morning.

         Just a few days before, the BBC journalist Gavin Hewitt and I had had a bust-up at breakfast. I had questioned whether we had made the right choice in coming here given that England were playing in Charleroi. I subsequently apologised. ‘Don’t worry, we’re on edge at the moment,’ Gavin replied.

         We all knew that we didn’t have enough material. To top it all, Peter Horrocks, editor of Panorama, was flying in to town in the next twenty-four hours. I was confused by the mission, believing in the guys making the show but starting to develop the journalistic instinct that we had been in the wrong place. We had almost retreated.
         

         I awoke proud, thinking this could finally be my big break with the BBC, but my work here was done. At the edit suite, I took it all in, starry-eyed at seeing what it took to put the show together, witnessing first-hand the panic as the clock ticked down, knowing that Gavin Hewitt would still have to dub in an almost live voice-over after the result that night.
         

         England still had to play Romania: the show would follow immediately. I offered my services one more time, but the production manager told me to return to the hotel – they would call if they needed me. I hit the bar and watched the game.
         

         There was nobody in except a solitary drunk American. Suddenly Horrocks turned up. I had never met him before but the timing couldn’t have been better. The Yank started taking pictures of us. ‘I know who you fucking are,’ he slurred.

         There was no way he could. I asked him politely to stop taking the pictures, and then I told him the Craig way when he refused. ‘I’ve asked you once, now I’m telling you,’ I eyeballed him, flicking the film out of his camera before handing it back to him and calling Hotel Security. To this day, I still don’t know who he was or what he was after.

         ‘Thank you,’ Peter said. ‘You handled that well, and thanks for all you have done at the tournament.’

         He had come straight from the edit suite and tensions were running high. I knew that he would remember that, and me, and he had definitely seen my work first-hand in the final edit on Panorama. It couldn’t have gone better. I was in, I had proved myself, and I could visualise the journey ahead, seeing out my time with the TA and starting straightaway with the Beeb. As I collected my air ticket home from the Brussels Bureau, I knew it was only a matter of time before the phone rang again.
         

         It was now 9 October – officially the flattest day of my life. The week after the Euros I had rung Tom Giles repeatedly. There was no answer. I had done a cracking job, but again they weren’t taking my calls. I hadn’t expected this a second time. Panorama shows came and went as summer rolled into autumn; I would watch the weekly credits looking out for names I knew, like Tom’s, and still there was nothing. I would spot ‘Tom Giles’ on the screen, and think ‘I know him’ – but I didn’t, and every week put more distance between my new dream and my stark reality. I was getting into the role, but the role hadn’t been given to me.
         

         This was the day I officially walked out of army headquarters for the last time.

         I had entered the unknown. After years of the army being my life, I didn’t really know what to expect. I couldn’t do a thing myself, and I had no job. Together, Sue and I had money for about six months, but I was worried. I could be a security guard, or retrain, or anything, but essentially I was clueless. Nothing but uncertainty lay ahead.

         I rang everyone I knew to tell them about KCM. Our company would do security work for the media. I called Chris Cobb-Smith; Tom Giles told me he would call if anything came up, and I hung on every phone call hoping it was him. I was no businessman and had no idea how to promote the company, and security was a dirty word. People thought I was a bouncer or someone stood outside, marshalling cars. I wanted surveillance and covert work. The bigger security groups were already established, and here we were trying to build a business based on the back of a fag packet.
         

         We were clutching at straws, and going nowhere fast. I had the vision but not the know-how. And then, Tom Giles finally rang.

         ‘Oh fuck, it’s Tom.’ I froze as my old Nokia flashed up his name.

         Back then, not everyone had a mobile, and I had two Toms in my phone. This one was Tom from Panorama. I have never answered a phone so carefully, so worried about cutting someone off.
         

         ‘Hi Craig, it’s Tom,’ he began. ‘Are you happy to go down to Wales and do some undercover filming on your own?’

         I couldn’t believe it. ‘That was Tom from Panorama,’ I told Sue after he hung up.
         

         I had no idea how much to charge or what the job was. I just felt privileged we had our first job and, best of all, the BBC were trusting me. It was all on me. My work at the Euros had got me moving.
         

         In London, I learned it was more of the same – hooligans. I couldn’t wait. I would be mixing with my own. The show on the Euros was called England’s Shame and later won an award. Tom Anstiss, the producer, wanted more shame and more awards.
         

         They were running a three-part series on hooligans in the UK, Italy, and Argentina. I was heading back to the land of Annis Abraham for more. In my head, I was on the plane to Lazio and River Plate to go undercover. In my bank account I was thinking ching-ching. This was it. Surely, this time, I was in, and it was going to happen.

         I was told if it went wrong, it didn’t matter. They already had some footage. That sort of watered down my task and I felt a bit used – back to the role of bouncer in among the public schoolboys. I knew my editorial sense was slowly developing, though, and when they told me who I was after, I couldn’t get down the M4 quick enough.

         My destination was a bar/nightclub called Apollo 2; my company was the Cardiff Soul Crew again. Cardiff City Chairman Sam Hammam was going to be the star of the show! Tom Anstiss met me in a service station outside Cardiff, and a man from Swansea known only as ‘The Bear’ came along as my cover story. He was the fixer who was going to look after me. This time, I was a massive Wimbledon fan, in awe of Sam Hammam, on leave in Cardiff buying property. Bear was a native, a loveable rogue who knew the bad lads in the city. It was simple and mostly accurate. I didn’t foresee any trouble.

         I was excited at the thought of Sam the Man being there. What a coup that would be. I loved the idea that Annis Abraham would probably show too. I was also told to look out for two characters called Neil McNamara and Shane Weldon. As I left the car that night, I ran through a mental checklist. Was everything charged and on? Was The Bear going to look after me and play it cool given that I would be the only Englishman in the bar? Could we handle a seat-of-the-pants operation when I was trained as a soldier to recce the joint before any operation?
         

         Inside, I was buzzing that Sam Hammam was coming – and so was the bar. A couple of fans challenged me and I bullshitted them with some Brecon Beacons bollocks but once they realised I wasn’t Man U or Chelsea or any threat to Cardiff City, it passed. I’m naturally suspicious and most people aren’t. They accepted me.

         I became relaxed but not complacent. I was concentrating on the camera – and waiting for Sam. I wasn’t entirely sure he would show and I needed a cut-off point to get out before being compromised. Equally, I didn’t want to keep asking when he was going to turn up. My over-keenness could blow the whole thing. I didn’t want to lose my credibility with Tom by filming some other thug when I should have been filming Sam. I knew I was on trial – they had told me the footage wasn’t vital, but Jesus, I knew if I got Sam Hammam that was big drama. The battery was good for two to three hours.

         The bar was boiling and smoky – this, too, was before the law changed. Then the stakes were raised. From a side entrance the little man appeared. I thought we would get a good shot but the place was hysterical, bouncing with his arrival. We were close but not close enough.

         I retreated to the loo to check the gear, locking the door to make sure nobody could get in. I unzipped the bag and checked the camera, changing the battery because it had been running for some time. But I wasn’t alone in the bog. After waiting, I pulled the chain and walked straight past the other two guys in there. I realised on the way back that I was near where Sam had come in and figured that this was the best place to stand. Amazingly, he was announcing that he would lay on coaches for the next away game. Then, as I was attempting to run the tape for ‘atmos’, Annis Abraham came into the corridor.
         

         ‘Hello mate, how are you?’ Bear said to Annis. 

         Bear and Annis knew each other? It was my lucky day. Then Bear introduced me.
         

         Annis looked at me as if to say what the hell was I doing here. Thankfully Bear explained the cover story. I couldn’t believe I was actually chatting to him.

         Then it got even better. Sam Hammam was coming my way and Bear and Annis introduced me to him!

         But I wasn’t filming. I had turned the thing off. I knew this was the shot I wanted, so I took the risk of stepping back a few steps and hit the key fob to press record and play. Annis and Sam were in shot talking to each other.

         Bear and I looked at each other. This was what we had come for. On the way out a couple of Annis’s cronies approached us to buy some Cardiff Soul Crew badges. I duly obliged to avoid confrontation. I didn’t care. I was desperate to see the film.
         

         As soon as Tom saw us leave the pub, he set off back to the service station and we followed. That Sam Hammam turned up at all was brilliant, and leaving with a well-known hooligan surely condemned him. He hadn’t come to preach peace. He was the club owner and he had come out to a bar in the Valleys to meet with convicted hooligans.
         

         I was just relieved that I had got the footage. Sent on a whim, I had delivered. I had been in that pub since 19.30, and by the time I rang Tom Giles to give him the good news it was gone half one in the morning. It had been a nightmare shoot getting so close but it had been worth it – we had a reasonable ten-to-twelve-second recording of Sam Hammam with good sound quality.

         I drove home at speed, excited and reliving it all the way. I was home by three but the journey was a blur. I loved my role, mixing it with the scum yet providing the real deal for the BBC Oxbridge elite. I knew I was adding something they didn’t have and couldn’t ignore again for a third time. 

         The next day, I rang Tom. And I rang him again. I needed that call. I left voicemail after voicemail and waited for him to call me back. I was now realising that this was the way things worked.
         

         Around half two he finally called. Would I come up to the BBC for a chat? I was convinced I was hired. Finally.

         The next day I met him. I couldn’t have been more deflated. I had debated whether to turn up smart or casual but it didn’t matter one iota. For goodness sake, I would have worked for free. The chat lasted just ten minutes and I got the usual. ‘If anything crops up, I’ll give you a call,’ he told me.

         I was devastated. It was another smack in the stomach I didn’t need. I’d gone from hero to zero overnight, and this time I felt it was the end of the line. I rang Chris Cobb-Smith, who said that was the just the way it went – it would always be fits and starts. You were only as good as your next job, often forgotten about in the interim. I begged Tom to see if there were any vacancies in Panorama for people like me. He told me straight – they normally used APs (Assistant Producers) on six-month contracts. Ad-hoc was all it was ever going to be.
         

         Chris told me that night in the BBC Club that I needed to look at other avenues like Amnesty International. My dreams temporarily on hold, I thought this was the way I would have to go. It might still be an in-road.

         By Christmas, I’d had a good look at my life. Nothing was happening and I was worried that I was wasting my time. I was also eating heavily into my army money. Chris got me an invite to a security exhibition at the Charing Cross Hotel in London to meet some people and hand out some business cards. Again, nothing. The furthest I got was meeting Mal McGowan, whose company Pilgrims had just taken over the Hostile Environments Course at the BBC. Later, I would come to know it only too well, but for now, it was just another brick wall.

         By February 2001, I was really depressed about the whole thing – getting used to civilian life also took its toll. Despite the money running out, I had made a long-standing promise to take my daughters on holiday to Los Angeles.
         

         Just before we were due to pack, the phone rang out of the blue. It was Chris Cobb-Smith. ‘I want to go freelance,’ he began. ‘I don’t want to be tied to a particular job. Are you interested in taking over from me?’

         It was the last thing I was expecting. Uncharacteristically, I stalled him and rang Sue. As desperate as I was for the gig, I didn’t want to seem too keen. I also called Mike and Kev, who backed me 100 per cent. They knew the business was going nowhere fast, and we had always had an understanding that if something permanent came up, I would have to take it.

         This was it – finally, some nine months after holding Nicholas Witchell’s hand at the May Day riots, I could get a foot in the door. If I ballsed it up, this would surely be my last chance gone. I had never applied for anything in my life, let alone online. I’d just gone from one army posting to another and now here I was desperately trying to follow the application on the screen, with pages of notes all laid out around me at home. I had to give it everything.

         My dial-up connection failed me. Back in those days, any online form was a race against time before the screen froze, and we lost this one more than once. Sue told me to leave it for the night and come back the next day, but I had to get it done there and then. By midnight I had finally pressed send. Then it was a waiting game, until an envelope with those three famous letters on the front dropped onto the mat. I froze; when I read the contents it got worse. I’d thought I would just go in for another chat and the deal would be done. Instead I had been summoned to a board interview at exactly the time we would be in the States.

         I was panicking more than I ever had in any war zone. Sue made me ring the number to explain, and I was able to reschedule so we would return from America on the Saturday and I would interview on the Monday. 

         When we landed back at Heathrow, I flicked on my mobile – there was a message from Tom Giles. Would I go to Cardiff tomorrow for the Worthington Cup Final – Liverpool v Birmingham – for a whiff of my old mates from the Soul Crew?
         

         I’d had four seats to myself on the plane back so I wasn’t jet-lagged. I told Sue that, interview or no interview, I had to go. I was still a freelancer, and who knew how Monday would pan out? If I blew the board, I still had an in with Tom. I was totally buzzing again, both at the prospect of more work with the Cardiff lot and at the real possibilities that Monday could lead to. My brief was to traipse around the bars and see how their fans reacted to the Liverpool and Birmingham fans, given that this was one of the first major matches to be held outside Wembley while the new stadium was being built.

         The mission was a no-go though. The rain wrecked it, there was no sign of Annis, and trouble was minimal. I wondered why I had bothered, but it was work. This was the downside – the stuff you don’t see on Panorama, when there are no BAFTAs because there was no footage.
         

         My mind was on the interview all the way home, of course, racing with questions I would probably be asked. I got through the door at half one in the morning, wet and knackered, and the night wasn’t much better. The disappointment of not getting the money shot for once had given me a reality check, and my head was spinning through every hour.

         I was confident of my own knowledge, but not of my suit, nor the BBC process. I had no idea how to behave and I looked like someone who’d been demobbed in 1958. Some people look fantastic in suits and others look like a bag of shite. I was the latter. I was so uncomfortable about my first real job interview.

         In the morning, I drove to Slough and took the Reading train to Paddington. I was in town within half an hour – ridiculously early. Chris was going to meet me beforehand to give me the lowdown on the job. 

         Stupidly, just as I got off the tube at White City to meet him, I got soaked in a downpour, and now looked even worse. My suit was in ruins, looking as if it had been screwed up in a bag and then put on. What a dickhead I was – I was in such a hurry to get there, I had made a schoolboy error. Seconds later the skies cleared.
         

         Chris reassured me, telling me not to worry about the suit. ‘Don’t worry, the job is yours,’ he told me. ‘They’ll ask you a couple of scenario questions – take your time and be confident.’ Then he left me in the foyer and I was on my own. In the toilets, I looked in the mirror, sorted my suit out and had a good word with myself. I knew I could I do this if my nerves didn’t muck it up.

         Tony Loughran led me up to the board. He was giving me that ‘You’ll be fine. I want you on board’ look. I felt the valve on the pressure cooker being released ever so gently. Also present were Bob Forster – ex-RAF but now head of Safety. Tony was the senior security advisor and alongside him were Harry Muir, a health and safety advisor, and Jenny Baxter, the stand-in Foreign News editor.
         

         Harry hit me with some questions about journalists carrying respirators and nuclear biological germ warfare. I could handle that no problem. Tony asked me about my medical training and how I would react in a war zone scenario if there was an accident. Again, that was right up my street. He quizzed me on my priorities – safety first or getting the pictures?

         ‘We’re in the business of getting pictures.’ I told them what they wanted to hear. It was also the way I had begun to think during my previous engagements on Panorama duty. That work had stood me in good stead, despite the irregularity of it. Crucially, too, I was showing them that the ex-soldier was learning to think like a programme maker.
         

         It felt like I was in there no time at all. They grilled me for just under an hour. The fact that it flew by told me I had done well. I had put the suit behind me and my knowledge on the table and was mixing it with my own. In fact, I felt they had a bit of a simplistic attitude to security but being interviewed by ex-military definitely put me on a level footing. I left thinking one thought. I had got that job. (I found out afterwards that Jenny wanted a female to do the job. I don’t think she wanted an ex-squaddie coming in. The previous applicant had been a woman.) I rang Sue to say that it had gone well – the inside info from Chris had calmed me. Unless I had totally misread it, I knew the job was mine.
         

         Two days later, they rang. I would start on 5 March 2001. All my frustrations and uncertainties were laid to rest; the four individual jobs I had been given since last May had shown me the way, and my badgering of Chris and Tom had finally paid off. Little did I know that the weekend that I was due to start, the IRA would decide to bomb Television Centre.

      

      
    

  
    
      
         
         

         
            OFF WITH A BLAST

         
   
         Seven people were injured when the Real IRA detonated in front of TC at half past midnight on the weekend of the 3 and 4 March. The building would have been less populated than at any other point in the week. They hadn’t wanted to kill anyone; it was simply a warning in response to a Panorama special naming certain individuals. What a welcome to the BBC.
         

         I was up early on the Monday as a big adrenalin rush kicked in. I hadn’t been interested in working for any other networks – for me, it was all about the BBC. Not only did I have the job I chased for months but suddenly on day one, when I was meant to be sitting down to a Health and Safety induction, I had a chance to show my worth instantly. Yes, in the new era, courses and form-filling were rife, but I knew this was tasty. Ireland had been my patch four years previously, and now they were on our very own doorstep the day I started work. I was flashing back to Armagh. There had been no phone call to Panorama or the BBC, even though the IRA usually like to take credit, but we knew and I knew.
         

         Tony and Chris met me at the door – except it wasn’t the one I had walked through for my interview. That had been blown off. I entered through the side and within an hour we were marching over to Panorama to brief and be debriefed. I was desperate to get started and to bump into Tom Giles again. 
         

         Straightaway, I was assigned to talk to the wife of reporter John Ware, teaching her about number recognition systems, and how to spot changes to her car – a mark here or there, and the boot might have been tampered with. Always check under the vehicle, too, without being obvious about it. I told her to look regularly and to go to the police with anything unusual. There was no point checking it only the next day. Ireland had taught me to look for something like a small Tupperware box with a tilt switch attached. When you drive off – well, you don’t. You get blown into the sky.
         

         This wasn’t the first day that the department had had in mind for me but I loved it and stayed for twelve hours. They’d wanted someone slightly below my skill set who was more into Health and Safety, rather than an individual who could develop the security side, but on day one I saw opportunity and have never looked back. I began to carve out the job for myself. The IRA’s attempt to blow up the BBC actually triggered my most significant career move yet, saving me from a life of paperwork and thrusting me into the heart of the action.
         

         When I finally got home, Sue could see I’d had the time of my life. I told her about everyone I’d met and everything I’d done and when I finished I was already watching my mobile, hoping for it to ring to call me back in. I was loving it. My journalistic taste buds had been tickled and I knew the BBC needed me in security. They had done an average job patching up the building after the bomb with some guard rails set up outside and some half decent measures to screen the thousands of people coming and going. They had just about got their shit together but it was clear that security at the BBC could never be the same again. I was already in pole position to help shape that.

         I gave everyone I could my number to put myself about, and told them I was there 24/7. By Friday, the week had become a joyous blur – I felt like I had always been there and had a key role to play. By the time we treated ourselves to a takeaway and put our feet up for the weekend, Monday couldn’t come quick enough. Honestly, I have never been happier. I knew if I didn’t balls this up, KCM was history, but who cared? It was already dead and buried before it had got off the ground. I now worked for the BBC.
         

         Then came the classic BBC nonsense. By Tuesday of the next week Bob Forster had me down for that Health and Safety course, which rendered me a zombie for two hours and left me cursing under my breath. I needed a NEBOSH qualification, whatever that was, to tick the boxes. That bit of paper would make me a Health and Safety god. Jesus.

         Next followed the crushing blow – he dropped into the conversation that I was not to assist Current Affairs in any covert camera work. That was not in my job remit. He was trying to pigeonhole me after my flying start last week. I hadn’t been there a fortnight and was desperate not to lose the job, but I was not happy. I took it in silence, but the second thoughts I was having dominated my mind. I wanted to walk, but the experiences of the past year told me that was foolish. I had craved this so badly. I would sit it out and network, make friends with everyone in news, and annoy the shit out of Tom Giles. I needed to get back out in the field but for now politics had left me desk-bound The first two weeks couldn’t have been more contrasting. I was rock bottom.
         

      

      
    

  
    
      
         
         
 
         
            FRIENDLY FIRE

         
 
         Within a fortnight, all that turned out to be bullshit. I was a plane to Macedonia and then Israel.
         
 
         First, Malcolm Downing, the senior desk editor, asked me to fly 50,000 Deutsche Marks to the producer in Skopje. I rang Sue immediately and left the same afternoon. Talk about a U-turn. Malcolm said he would talk to Bob, and Tony Loughran told me to leave as soon as possible. The left hand didn’t know what the right was doing but suddenly I was back in the game.
 
         Sue asked me if it was safe and so begun what would become a familiar routine of me palming her off nonchalantly – over the years she would only ever watch the news if she knew I was heading there. This was the first time I had ever been a courier, and out here the BBC credit card would get you nowhere. If you needed fuel, hotels, fixers or bribes, cash was the only currency that counted.
 
         Crucially, I was trusted. One man standing in my way had been overridden by the immediacy of the demands of news, and that was just the beginning: over the years, I flew to Jenin in Israel, Pakistan, Turkey, Jordan, Kenya, Brussels, Borneo and even Peru to lay the groundwork for a series on planet Earth!
 
         I was quickly learning who to hang out with to fulfil my dreams. But of course, the stakes were suddenly raised on 11 September 2001. Everything changed overnight. The world was at war with Osama bin Laden and I now had a front-row seat. 
 
         When the planes flew into the Twin Towers, I was in Paris being courted by a ballistics company. I had seen a French reporter in Israel wearing a special type of flak jacket that I knew we would need going forward. This was my new life, being wined and dined on the Champs-Élysées, living it up on the BBC, but ultimately 9/11 was the moment which would define the next decade of newsgathering for all journalists and also for myself. Just like the IRA bomb, for those in the field, bad news was good news.
         
 
         As I raced to get home, my journalist colleagues were trying to get to the States, eventually hiring a 747 together with ITV and flying to Canada, before tearing down through North America in a hire car. Certain teams had already been deployed to Pakistan without my knowledge and I got straight on the phone to Tony to tell him I had to get there. I was told that a freelancer had to go – I was needed in London as the link between News and the teams on the ground – but that was bollocks. They were trying to fit a square peg in a round hole. I didn’t get further than delivering kit to Stansted.
 
         In place of myself I had to send an old mate, Tony Rippon, but I made sure he only stayed a week and a half! Then I called him home, having blagged it to the news team that they needed more kit, more sleeping bags, and more meals. Sooner rather than later, I was on that plane to Islamabad.
 
         This was to be the first time I met John Simpson. Over the next decade we would be close to inseparable on such trips. I then got summoned home – they didn’t want me out there more than two weeks. We were all simply waiting to get into Afghanistan. We had only just met, but as I flew back to do bloody paperwork, John told me it was ridiculous: someone with my experience, which he had not been used to having in tow previously, had to stay with him on the ground.
 
         A decade of Health and Safety was getting underway at the same time that the world changed forever. Apparently, it was more important for me to complete the paperwork on sitting upright on a BBC chair than it was to penetrate a border by nightfall as guns and missiles rained supreme all around.
         
 
         When I returned, Tony told me that Bob wanted me back. It wasn’t my role to chaperone John as he famously ‘liberated Kabul’. I had to fill in the forms and tick the boxes back at base. As the new era dawned in the West, I had to fight the internal war too. The world was watching America and her allies. The War on Terror had begun.
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         Over a year later, in February 2003, I went into work in London as usual, but with an extra spring in my step. I knew from my days in the army when it was all kicking off and it was obvious from the headlines that the US and the Brits were going to invade Iraq. This was what I was here for.
 
         The phones had been ringing off the hook but all I had been able to do was prepare equipment – the Beeb were nervous about sending ex-military personnel in before hostilities had broken out. Then Tom Giles called and Malcolm Downing came to see me. Jim Muir, the Tehran correspondent, was crossing the border as we were talking; Stuart Hughes was out there on his first trip to do radio; and John had newspaper columns to write, a book deal in the bag, and needed to file for Panorama. Fred Scott, an American was on board as cameraman … would I go as the security advisor?
         
 
         I didn’t need asking twice. Within a day, I was on the plane. I told Sue that my return depended on Mr Bush! In fact it was a done deal: by the end of that meeting Dave Bristow at the travel desk had already booked the tickets and Oggy Boytchev had come over to introduce himself as the producer. There was no doubt at all that we were leaving and it couldn’t come soon enough. I had grabbed together what I could from the BBC Safety Store – Sat Phones, GPS, sleeping bags, duvet jackets, body armour, helmet and rations. If I thought I needed it, it was in. However, I had gone to work that morning knowing that tension was in the air but unaware that within twenty-four hours, I would be gone for two months. Our planning was shit. But I loved it.
         
 
         We flew to Turkey, then on to Adana in the south, before taking a 21-hour coach journey to the Northern Iraq border. You couldn’t fly into Iraq, and the key meeting place for all foreign journalists was on the Salopi border. Although time consuming, this was the fastest, safest route in. When we got there, we still didn’t have a BBC coach, and we were kicked off the CNN one – tempers were running high. It took thirty-six hours in all to get from the border to Arbil in the north, Iraq’s fourth largest city. During that time, one of our fixers, Dragan Petrovic, heard from Belgrade that he had become a dad. John had promised to get him on this trip after working with him in the Balkans, and Dragan needed the money. He should have been at home, especially as for the next five weeks we did fuck all.
 
         John was getting frustrated waiting for the war to start, and he was convinced we were in the wrong location. We had nowhere to go, having been given only a four-day visa. We ignored its expiry date and decided to sit it out for the duration.
 
         In the weeks up to 19 March, our days would be spent planning, doing the odd bit of local reconnaissance, and generally batting away all the local fixers and car dealers who had got wind that the BBC were camped in the Tower Hotel. Word was out that the great John Simpson was in town. This meant money to the locals. Eventually we forked out an extortionate $3,500 a month for a Hyundai and a Toyota. We also seemed to have acquired a fixer caller Russa and a freelance stills photographer, Abdullah, who had great contacts with the local Peshmerga and – much to my irritation – had wormed his way onto the team. I knew he thought John was his meal ticket (and I mean that literally). Not only would the BBC’s World Affairs editor probably be on the scent of the story, there would be three fine meals a day – and Abdullah was always first to clean his plate. Risgar, the manager of the hotel, couldn’t do enough for us either, even offering me a pistol to take on the road, which I declined. I learned that he was cutting deals with FOX TV, too. Clearly, this was a big payday all round.
         
 
         By night, we would chew the fat, sing some songs and Fred would start up the card school – John the Ace Simpson and Craig the Shark Summers fighting to the death over the jackpot prize … of toothpicks! We were that bored. To make it worse, Fred had just had a little baby and had spent only twelve hours at home in months. He hadn’t even heard her cry. That was the price we all paid just to get the story.
 
         But there was no story. All John could think about was getting to Baghdad but we had no way in yet. He had knocked on my door one night to express his concerns that we simply did not have enough or the correct equipment for the locals we had taken on. This appalled him, and rightly so, but that’s often the deal when you leave at a moment’s notice. I did my best to scrounge around for extra supplies.
 
         On the night of the 19th the Americans fired Tomahawk missiles into Baghdad. Finally, we were in business – and a good job too, because Bob Forster had already tried to get me home once. I briefed our locals to tell their families our plans and ordered everyone to pack a bag with spare kit so we could move as and when. I also checked the vehicles for road-worthiness. Word was reaching us that morale was low in the Iraqi army; the streets were quiet and shops were beginning to get boarded up. The war had well and truly started. But it wasn’t until the first ten days of April when we tasted the horrors of conflict ourselves and, in our hunt to get the story, became the very story itself.
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         By 2 April, Stuart Hughes had been in Iraq for two months. As the front line between the Kurdish-controlled North and the Central and Southern Territories held by Saddam Hussein began to crumble, Stuart, Kaveh Golestan his cameraman, and a local Kurdish soldier were on the road gathering material near the oil-rich city of Kirkuk. 
 
         As American bombs poured out of the sky, Stuart and Jim Muir stopped at a checkpoint to get some knowledge of the best vantage point for footage of the Yanks attacking the frontline in the distance. The local Kurdish Peshmerga guide told them it was safe to proceed to another track, 100 metres on the right, turning left to a second route near an abandoned Iraqi military position. They should pull over there to avoid being ‘crested’ (visible on the other side of the ridge). Jim was nervous about stopping off-road and parked his left-hand drive at an angle.
         
 
         Kaveh had sat next to Jim in the front; in the back Stuart was on the right, Rabeen, a fixer, was in the middle, and the local Peshmerga sat on the left. He was the first to exit.
 
         Stuart was next to get out. With one step, his right foot set off the first mine. Jim threw himself down next to the driver’s door, believing they were taking incoming fire. On hearing the first detonation from the rear, Kaveh ran around to the front of the vehicle for cover. He threw himself onto two mines, and was gone. Killed instantly.
 
         Rabeen was the only one left inside the vehicle. He had also thought it was a mortar attack, but quickly realised there was no distinctive whistling sound so it must be a mine strike. Then he heard Stuart crying out from the rear right – but he could also see Stuart’s legs. Ahead, he saw another body covered in dirt. In the moment of impact, he thought it was a dead Iraqi, only understanding it was Kaveh a few moments later when Jim called out he was going to rescue him.
 
         Rabeen urged him not to risk further injury but Jim insisted. It was too late. There was no pulse.
 
         The local Peshmerga fired his rifle to attract attention. Rabeen pulled Stuart into the vehicle over the bags in the cargo area behind the back seat. Jim dragged Kaveh to the vehicle and rested his body across Rabeen, revealing extensive abdominal and lower-leg injuries. By now there were twenty or thirty locals out on the track. Jim put his foot down, heading for the nearby hospital about five minutes away. 
         
 
         At this point, my phone rang. It was Quill Lawrence, who worked for Boston the World, a radio outfit affiliated to the BBC. Quill was one of the first on the scene. ‘Look, there’s been a bad accident,’ he began. ‘I don’t know how many are dead. They are on the road to Kifri and I can’t get hold of Jim.’
         
 
         I was two hours away, having dinner with Tom Giles and John Simpson. By the end of the call, I had upped and left. Together with Oggy, I drove like a mad man towards Sulaymaniyah, in the northeast of the country, all the time talking to Quill on the phone.
 
         He had pulled a blinder. He had spoken to a US Forces medical unit based just outside the city. Plans were underway to get the guys moved from the local facility, and an escort vehicle was on its way. He also confirmed that Kaveh was dead.
 
         Stuart had been given a pain-killing injection and an antibiotic, with a stop at another hospital to administer glucose liquids. We met them in Sulaymaniyah. At the American base, the facilities were the business. I explained to the surgeon who Stuart was, then they asked everyone else to leave. I was to stay to facilitate his evacuation, and for support, while they operated. He was gone for hours – the drugs knocked him for six. I watched from the corner while they un-bandaged and took pictures of the remains of his foot.
 
         ‘It’s fifty–fifty whether he keeps his leg,’ I was told by American captain Jeff Joyce. ‘We’ll clean it up but that’s as far as we’ll go. We’re making arrangements to get him out on a helicopter to Germany or Cyprus. We’d like you to sit with him.’
 
         They offered me a sleeping bag as I had no kit. It was going to be a night on the floor for me.
 
         ‘How are you feeling?’ I asked Stuart.
 
         ‘A bit groggy,’ he mumbled back. ‘How’s my leg?’
 
         ‘It’ll be fine mate,’ I lied. ‘Don’t worry, it’s still there; you’ll be playing football for Wales soon.’
         
 
         I thought this was the best thing to say even though I knew otherwise. There was no point stressing him any further. He had asked me if anyone had spoken to his parents and I said Oggy was through to London and they now knew. Moments later, Stuart was out for the count again. I went to check back in with Jeff, who told me London were all over it but Stuart’s family wanted to talk to me on the Sat Phone. They didn’t know me from Adam but I assured them he would be on his way tomorrow and was in good hands, and returned to sit with Stuart, rolled up in my sleeping bag …
         
 
         He was in and out of sleep, and by 05.00 the Yanks were in anyway to move him. It was time for me to leave and for him to make that long journey home. My job was done and someone else would take it from here, and that was how I saw it. Nothing like this choked me – I was more concerned about getting back to Arbil. I had seen too much of war and life to get emotional. Stuart faced a long road ahead, but tomorrow was another day for me. That’s just how I was, and how I learned to deal with tragic incidents like this. I had done my part and had no personal responsibility to his section – that wasn’t my style. It would be months before I would see him again.
 
         As I said goodbye, I had one last question to ask. ‘What were you wearing on your feet?’
 
         ‘Sandals,’ he replied.
 
         I’d feared he would say that. ‘How many times have I told you? Why weren’t you wearing boots?’ But now wasn’t the time to criticise. I had said it before and I would say it again hundreds and hundreds of times over the years.
 
         This was Stuart’s first big gig and even though the locals believed that these mines dated from the Iran–Iraq War of the 1970s, and the terrain was now lush and green, our guys had all learned about off-road driving into places like this on the BBC Hostile Environment Course.
 
         I hated to say it. This was an unfortunate accident; it might not have made a difference, but we both looked at each other knowingly. Stuart shouldn’t have been in sandals. 
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         ‘How’s things?’ they asked when they saw me enter the restaurant.
         
 
         I had hitched a long, precarious lift back to Arbil. I needed my single bed in this pokey little hotel, my feet dangling over the end of it. I was that exhausted I didn’t care.
 
         ‘I am fucking knackered,’ I told the boys, before filling them in on Stuart’s progress. And then we left it. That’s what we did. I told them what I knew and we moved on. A small amount of sympathy, followed by a relevant dose of information, topped off with the next briefing. It’s just how it was.
 
         By the next morning, 4 April, Stuart was hardly mentioned. We had a war to cover and Simpson was itching to cover it. Even knocking on the door of sixty, he still had it, and couldn’t wait to get cracking. The word was that fighting had increased and, again, John was worried we weren’t near the story. Rageh Omaar was looking like a star in Baghdad. That had been John in 1991, and he wanted it to be John in 2003. He was desperate to find a way out of here but even with that mindset, there was no way he would be embedded. That, to John, said control and censorship. He wanted to roam, hunt down and sniff out the story that nobody else had. That’s why he was John Simpson.
 
         The next day we found ourselves twenty kilometres east of Al Qasr. One of our tip-offs had come good and we found ourselves spending the night with American Special Forces. I had wandered over discreetly to introduce myself as one of their own and see if they would mind if we took some general shots. Clearly, if they were here, there was a story, as if their laser finders on the jeeps didn’t give it away.
 
         We shook hands and they were cool, so long as we didn’t film them or specify location. I assured them that we wouldn’t. I could have sold them down the river of course, but you don’t want to get a reputation for that – you would never be allowed in again. They told me that they’d lost count of the number of times they had been here. I offered them my Sat Phone so they could call home – against their operational procedure. We shared kebabs and talked squaddie shit all night. I loved every second. As we swapped parachuting tales, for the first time since I had crossed the line from soldier to undercover beef for the BBC, I crossed it back again. I was totally at home and slightly jealous, as brilliant as my new life was. Twenty years of memories of sleeping rough under the stars, staking out the enemy and nailing good over evil came flooding back as I was mixing it with America’s finest. Despite the flea-bitten blankets and the odd bang in the sky, I could still cut it, and I still loved it.
         
 
         Curiously, it wasn’t for John. The BBC drivers had taken him back to the hotel, around forty minutes away. His news radar told him there wasn’t a story here, and he wanted to head back as he didn’t have his medicine for his kidney stones. We would hook up again in the morning, and I told him to be prepared – get kit for forty-eight hours and get ready.
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         Sunday 6 April 2003.
 
         None of us will forget this day.
 
         John was back in the village early. I’d had the best night ever. Over in Tehran, Jim Muir had flown in for Kaveh’s funeral. Yes, we were sorry for him, but no, we hardly mentioned it. We had work to do and needed to crack on, and in the cutthroat world of news and war, it was the BBC’s job to send representatives. We had work to do and John wanted ‘colour pieces’. We were five hours from Baghdad.
 
         We were heading to a village called Hawler when Abdullah called me over while John was doing a live two-way back to London. He had heard from Commander Nariman, who had been leaking info to us. The town of Dibarjan had fallen. This meant an about-turn and saying farewell to the Special Forces. It’s brutal to say it, but I was sadder at this than at the thought of Kaveh’s funeral. No disrespect but that’s the military fraternity.
 
         We turned on our heels and chased the story, passing discarded uniforms and blown-up trucks on the way. The evidence had been clear and General Nariman’s previous information had been accurate up to this point. I drove – and fast too. I always drove. It was a poor excuse for a road. Dust, tarmac, potholes and bumps all the way made the Highways Agency look good. Vast expanses of plain flanked us on either side.
         
 
         Of course, as seemed the way in these parts, I couldn’t know for sure if Nariman was talking to everyone. We hoped this was our story and not everyone’s but you could never know until you got there. Sadly, we never did. As we pulled up at the agreed checkpoint, the Peshmerga troops were everywhere – finding Nariman was like searching for a needle in a haystack. Abdullah, Fred and John went off to look, only to learn that a distinguished Iraqi major had been captured; and then John, being John, was pushing for an interview.
 
         ‘No film, no film, no film,’ the Peshmerga were saying.
 
         Fred returned to our vehicle and urged me to go undercover and film on my mini DV camera at this small pen in a tiny holding by the side of the road. It was like a scene from the Middle Ages – peasants waiting to be slaughtered. I told Kameron, our translator, not to move while I checked the shot. Kam was nervous – we were starting to attract attention, even though it was hard to get close enough, and we were filming covertly. The film never got used because of what would follow, but its significance lies in the conversation I then had with Kameron.
         
 
         While John was coercing Nariman for the big interview, Kameron told me had been offered a job as a Special Forces translator. He had seen his moment and gone for it, claiming he had been offered double. Oggy let me manage the fixers, drivers and translators: I told Kameron it was the wrong moment, and that as soon as the Yanks moved on, he would be forgotten. I had promised him a bonus when we got to Baghdad but this irritated me. I laid it on the line bluntly. We would always be able to find another fixer. His timing was poor.
 
         As we were about to push off with a bad atmosphere still lingering, two land cruisers pegged it past. 
         
 
         ‘That’s Waji Barzani,’ Abdullah said.
         
 
         Barzani was the son of the Kurdish president! Unbelievably, the US Special Forces were in tow, and we all knew we had to follow. I had heard his name but knew no more. The fact that the SF were travelling with him was more than a giveaway as to his importance. Nariman and Dibarjan – despite the latter being a major crossroads to Mosel, Kirkuk, and Southern Iraq – were no longer the story. When I spotted the SF, my boys and I knew it was our lucky day – sort of.
 
         We passed through three checkpoints in pursuit, at the last, avoiding buried mines in a huge pile of earth. We didn’t want to suffer the same fate as Stuart on the day Kaveh was being buried.
         
 
         The convoy turned out to be twelve vehicles in total. This was big drama. We stayed about 100 metres to the rear. At this third checkpoint, it just looked like mounds of earth and blockades up ahead, yet there was lush green on the side. We had sufficient time to catch up and we could always spy the tail of the last car through the dust; plus we had walkie-talkies to communicate between the cars. We put Kameron in with John in case there were any problems. Ultimately that decision condemned him, but it was the right thing to do from an operational point of view.
         
 
         As we drove back up a mound to our penultimate checkpoint, we came to a grinding halt. There was now a long convoy ahead and behind us.
 
         ‘I think we should put our flak jackets on.’ I don’t know why I radioed everyone but my sixth sense for danger had kicked in, and I had no idea what lay beyond the next ridge. I could hear noise in the distance. There was no way any of us were walking blindly into an ambush.
 
         The convoy, now some twenty cars long, stopped again safely near a T-junction. The road bent up the brow of a hill – potential danger lurked round every corner. We were caught in the valley. Barzani’s car, hitting tarmac for the first time, had floored it through the middle of the pack. To the right stood a tank, Roughneck 91. This was a relic from the original Gulf War, a stark abandoned reminder two decades on of what had gone before, its barrel pointing down defeated.
         
 
         I ordered our three vehicles through. John, Fred and Kameron got out to talk to the SF guys to see what the hell Barzani was doing out here. Kameron made for Barzani himself. My concern was the vehicles. Seeing plumes of smoke over the summit of the hill, there was clearly a contact further up the road – I had to make sure all the trucks were turned round to face the way we had come. We couldn’t be staring at the danger.
 
         Fred shouted at me to get the tripod out of the back of the Land Cruiser just after I had turned the first car round. To my right was a local Peshmerga; adjacent to me Tom’s phone rang. It was his birthday and his mum had called from the UK.
         
 
         ‘That’s the sound of freedom,’ he told her, holding the phone to the planes in the sky. It was a stupid time to take a call unless it was for work – and we were about to go live. For a second he was caught in the moment, his guard down, and he couldn’t know how his words would resonate forever.
 
         Still concerned to turn the cars around, I looked through the side window of the Land Cruiser.
 
         And then I spotted it.
 
         It wasn’t the sound of freedom at all. And it was coming towards us. I knew that distinctive red nose and grey body. I could see it falling through the air,
 
         We were dealing in split seconds here – each of us powerless, no time for fear past my initial ‘Oh fuck’, not a second to protect myself. Then it hit.
 
         The lights went out.
 
         The next thing I knew, I was picking myself up off the floor, but the Peshmerga villager to my right was gone. In front of me, I saw an arm, then I heard his body shrieking for a few seconds. It didn’t last long. He died before my very eyes. 
 
         I had taken a blow to the head – my left hand and right arm were bleeding from the almighty blast. I couldn’t account for any of the team at this point. With the shock I had hit the deck. Robotically, I picked myself up again. I’d been out for seconds. Did I actually hear the noise or had the shockwaves sent me reeling into blackout? I don’t know, but even the echo of the aftermath was louder than fuck. Did I see the bomb? Yes, for that nanosecond. What made me look in that direction? I don’t know. Years of training which hones into instinct or a stroke of luck? Pass.
         
 
         Thank God I was still alive. I knew immediately what had happened.
 
         
            It was 1982, and I was back in San Carlos Bay. That was over so quickly, too. I heard the air-raid sirens from our ships and two to three seconds later the Argentines dropped their bombs on us.
            

         
 
         I knew that sound. This time, I didn’t have those two to three seconds.
 
         Special Forces on the ground had described the target. Less than a kilometre away, we had been charging towards Iraqi tanks engaging with 173rd Airborne. We had been about to wander into that. From the sky the target had become the T-junction, the mass of vehicles and the abandoned Iraqi tank. The pilot had simply got it wrong.
 
         I dove to the side of the bank to my left and lay there. I found Tom with another Peshmerga gibbering away, blood running down his head from an intake of shrapnel. I kept asking if he was OK but he just stared at me, glazed in shock.
 
         Tom’s mum had heard it all.
 
         I screamed at him as he ran down the bank towards another small sand bank. He had to hit the deck now because most planes on attack come round twice.
 
         I grabbed Tom’s phone because mine was in the car. I had to tell London. ‘There’s been an own goal.’ I had known straightaway. ‘The Americans have dropped a bomb on us. Tom, Giles and I are fine. I’ve gotta go. I’ll give you an update when I know more.’ 
 
         I hung up. There was still no sign of John and the others. I had to get to work. I got up and ran to the vehicles, searching each for bodies. The impact had been less than twenty metres from our vehicle – it was like a scene from a movie, except this was very real. There were bodies everywhere – the flames and the ammunition within them stunk. Some people were burned to a crisp; others were still alive but heading that way. I’ve seen plenty of bombs and bodies over the years, but that stench never leaves you.
         
 
         ‘They’re fucking dead,’ I told myself. But I stayed calm and level-headed. Surely, there was no way in the world that I could find John, Fred, Dragan and Kameron alive. If that were true, so be it. I wasn’t thinking emotionally or as an undercover reporter. In my military head, and as BBC security advisor, I had to account for them in whatever state I discovered them. I would take it one step at a time.
         
 
         As I was sorting through the vehicles, I realised I was heading back the way we came. This was the wrong thing to do. If I was going to find them, the impact was behind me on the right – that’s where the American SF jeeps had been. ‘Check every body,’ I told myself repeatedly. ‘Account for everything.’ I wasn’t looking to save other lives or bury bodies. I was employed to protect John Simpson and I had no idea where he was. I began to call out for Fred. I was probably shouting too loudly because of the blast to the head. Who knew what perception of sound everyone still alive now had?
 
         Still there was nothing. And then, in a moment as surreal as Tom’s mum tasting the sound of freedom while wishing him birthday greetings, three heads popped up comically from behind the bank. They were safe, and in one piece.
         
 
         ‘It’s an American own goal,’ I shouted at them.
 
         John was livid. ‘It’s coming back’ he shouted. ‘I saw the fucking bomb. I saw the fucking bomb.’
 
         Fred had a gash to his head; John had lost a trouser leg so he was full length on one side and wearing shorts on the other, with shrapnel hanging out of him; Dragan had a bad cut to the ankle. They were all sufficiently OK for now to continue. There was no sign of Kameron. Nobody had seen him.
         
 
         ‘Have you called your friends off?’ John shouted to the Americans. I had never witnessed him like this before. ‘The world has a right to know what you know,’ he told our ‘friends’.
 
         ‘Stay here, John,’ I ordered. ‘And stay together. Here’s my phone. Call London and do what you have to do. I’ve got to find Kameron.’
 
         I don’t know if finding John meant the show had to go on or not. If he had been dead, I would still have looked for Kameron but it gave us all renewed purpose. I could hear John shouting to Fred to ‘shoot this’. He was straight back into work mode and, my God, he knew as we all did that this was one of the biggest stories of the war. As soon as we’d established we were all fine, we were in our element. I didn’t give two hoots about Abdullah – he wasn’t part of my remit. I was concerned for Kameron, but the story was unravelling before us. As I would do many times in the future, I walked that line between story first and danger second.
 
         ‘I’m doing a piece to camera,’ John told Tom Giles, what felt like seconds later. ‘Fucking morons,’ he cursed the Yanks before miking up.
 
         At the same time, I found Kameron lying on the bank. The American medics were running down with trauma packs on their back, helping whoever they could.
 
         ‘Come over here,’ I shouted to them, but it wasn’t looking good. His foot had been completely sliced off and blood was pouring out of his leg. He, too, made that gurgling sound that I had come to associate with death.
 
         Some of the medics went towards John and the guys but he was already live on the Sat Phone to Maxine Mawhinney on News 24.
 
         The medic told me to apply two tourniquets on Kameron’s legs above the wound to stop the blood loss – that surprised me. Only one leg was injured but he wanted both doing. I assumed he was more medically qualified than I was so went ahead and made it tight. I then got out my knife to cut Kameron’s shirt but I couldn’t see any wound. Still he carried on fading and gurgling.
         
 
         ‘Have you ever put a Given Set in?’ the medic asked me.
 
         This was a saline drip, and all I had to do was to get a vein up and slide a cannula in. The medic had already made one up.
 
         ‘I can’t get a vein,’ I shouted over to Tom.
 
         Kameron’s veins had collapsed. I knew he wasn’t going to make it.
 
         He was convulsing. The grumblings were getting louder. I asked Tom to sit with him as I had with Stuart. I told him to talk to Kameron and just keep him company but I knew I couldn’t do any more and I had to start to clear the area. Our vehicles were now on fire.
 
         That had to be sorted immediately but at the back of my mind was our conversation earlier about the money, and for a moment, I felt bad that he would die alone. My rare compassion was not for another victim of war – I just wish my last conversation of substance with him had been different. Crucially, even though his leg had borne the brunt of it, Kameron was one of the few in the car without a flak jacket. We didn’t have enough to go around. That was the mistake. It was the sandals all over again.
 
         As we loaded Kam onto the vehicle, I knew he was gone.
 
         
            [image: ] 
            

         
 
         ‘This is a really bad own goal by the Americans,’ John was live and just in earshot. He was raging inside, but as cool as a cucumber when the red light was on.
 
         (Weeks back, we had offered to give our co-ordinates to The Pentagon but they simply weren’t interested. It would be nice to think this wouldn’t have happened if we’d been embedded, but then we wouldn’t have been chasing Barzani across Iraq.)
 
         Just then, someone spotted a body in the back of one of our enflamed vehicles. That awoke something inside me to save the story, let alone the body. I ran to my car to discover it was a sleeping bag wedged against the back window, but I had to rescue the remaining broadcast equipment. There was no point at all us being here if the videophone and all the footage were going up in smoke.
         
 
         I managed to get the hatch open but it was like a furnace in there. I climbed inside to cut the rope to free the two spare jerrycans. I ran to John, threw them just to the right of the camera, then turned and went back to the other vehicles through the flames. Fred shouted to me to save his gear.
 
         All the cars were burning now – the third one looked seconds away from explosion as I grabbed our personal bags along with John’s diaries, notebooks and fucking Tilley hat. It was like a barbecue out of control but the smell was horrendous – nothing is more ghastly than the smell of burning fuel and smouldering flesh combined. I blocked it out of my mind and concentrated on the vehicle. All our lives were in those trucks – my focus was now totally on preserving the story and not human life. The guys I was concerned about were safe; the gear was not.
 
         John was raging again when he finished the live. ‘There’s gotta be a fucking inquest into that,’ he yelled to everyone and no one. ‘Was that OK?’ he turned to Tom. John had been better than OK. He was at his best, flicking an internal switch from anger and disgust to smooth calm.
 
         It had been a disgraceful error. Forty-five had been injured, sixteen lives lost. The Americans were worried there was more incoming and wanted to evacuate.
 
         Some of the gear was damaged. Most importantly, John’s Tilley hat now had a hole in it. Some twenty-five minutes later, my concern was still the vehicles. Despite that toxic mix of fuel and flames, I could see one of the Peshmerga guys trying to steal the third vehicle; the other two were burned to shreds.
 
         ‘Fuck off – this is our vehicle!’ I screamed at him. 
 
         In the back, he had placed his weapon along with some ammo. I found a hand on one of the seats. I told John to stay with the vehicle as I began to move everything into this car, piling stuff on the roof and clearing the glass from the seats. I had no windscreen left.
         
 
         By now, all the traffic was coming towards us – the rest of the media had got wind of the story and were piling in our direction. All we wanted to do was leave, heading back down to the original checkpoint.
 
         ‘What about Abdullah?’ John asked.
 
         We agreed to have one last look.
 
         Checking under the vehicles and charred corpses in this scene of devastation, we found nothing except the truth. He hadn’t even bothered to stick around. That was the final straw for me with him. If he wasn’t my responsibility before, he certainly wasn’t now. It was time to go. In every sense. Even for battle-hardened souls like Fred and me, it had taken its toll.
 
         ‘That’s it, I’m off,’ the American announced through the dust and wind in the front of the Land Cruiser. But he meant off and out of the country. It was time for him to get back to California to see his little baby. This was just the wake-up call he needed to get off the adrenalin rush and back to the real world.
 
         ‘Yeah, that was a close call,’ I agreed.
 
         It all showed what a difference a day could make, and indeed a week. On the same day that Kaveh was being buried, we nearly met the same fate. Just a few hours ago we had been buddying up with the very guys who called in the airstrike – and I’d been reminiscing about old times with them. The SF had told me none of theirs had died but I don’t believe that to be true. I saw them towing away a Land Rover in which I knew one of their men had gone down. Meanwhile Waji Barzani was helicoptered out of there to hospital. His brother fell into a coma.
 
         Despite his war fatigue, Fred continued to film out of the glassless window, the camera always on his knee. But he understood now and he meant it – it was time to go and see his baby. He had come straight from a month in India. All he knew professionally was putting his life on the line for the story – but when it became this real, he’d had enough. And even though I was the ex-military guy, the tough man in all this, we both knew it was an epic event to walk away from. It’s not every day John Simpson wipes blood from a TV camera lens minutes after a 1,000 lb bomb has fallen a few yards away from you, dropped by an F14 on your own side, tearing across the sky at close to 500 mph. For now, enough was enough.
         
 
         Oggy met us at a checkpoint ninety minutes down the road. He told us Abdullah was on the way to the hospital with shrapnel in his neck and thigh. He asked us if we were OK to carry on driving, but we knew we had to complete. He also told us that Kameron had died. It was only what I’d expected.
 
         By 16.00 we were back in Arbil. Word had spread that a BBC team had been bombed. I was shattered by the time I unloaded the gear into the hotel lobby – there was nothing left in the tank – but the warmth in the locals’ hearts was genuine. It was one of those surreal moments where people still have compassion, even when there’s a war on and you have to put yourself first.
 
         Someone sorted a car to take Fred to the UN medical facility at Ankawa on the other side of Arbil – his head badly needed dressing. As I saw him off, I sat down outside the hotel with another security guy called Steve Musson to talk it through and I realised just how fucking lucky I had been. I wasn’t in delayed shock; I didn’t get emotional; yet this was the closest in all my scrapes that I had come to meeting my maker.
         
 
         Suddenly I found a conscience and thought the right thing was to go the hospital to see Abdullah. It was chaos. Waji was in there too and the locals knew it. For once, our hotel manager played a blinder and got me straight through to the doctor, who checked me over. I really wasn’t sure if my hearing was still in one piece. Thankfully, I was given the all clear. 
 
         Oggy was already there and took me to Abdullah’s room but nothing had changed. He had nurses swooning all over him and he lay there playing the hero. There was a small amount of shrapnel and the odd bandage but, my God, he was still alive – unlike poor Kameron. When he saw us, he turned into a terminally ill patient going for an Oscar. To rub it in, I passed dead Peshmergas on trolleys on the way out. That was the true level of the mess that the blue on blue had caused. I had done the decent thing – and that was it. I hoped I never saw him again.
         
 
         There was still work to be done amid all this. I hadn’t even called home, although London had rung Sue. She knew the score. We were up against it – two hours from doing a live into the Six – all of us traumatised but in denial and Fred a whizz kid on the edit but desperate to get out of there. We worked our bollocks off on autopilot and John went live on the roof at the top of the bulletin.
 
         Again, the legend was at his best at the end of a day nobody will forget. Afterwards, we hit the bar and I broke my golden rule of never drinking on tour. We downed a beer and raised a glass to our late friend Kameron. Earlier we had also been to see his mother. ‘God gave us Kameron and now he took him back,’ John put it beautifully. Kameron had been the main breadwinner for the family, yet they didn’t really know the danger he was putting himself into – they thought he was a translator for the papers. He had told John he had wanted to work for us out of friendship and adventure – the wailing at the family home told us they’d had no idea he was risking life and limb.
 
         You can only grieve so long in this game. There was no word from Jim in Tehran either. We were so knackered and insular ourselves that we’d barely spared a thought for Kaveh that day. It was extraordinary that all this had happened at the same moment he was laid to rest.
 
         I finally spoke to Sue and, of course, she was worse than me. My girls had been told as well. As we hit the sack that night, there was indecision and uncertainty over whether we should come or go. We decided to sleep on it. 
 
         In the morning, we revisited the bomb site for Simpson’s World on BBC World. We spent half an hour walking round the scene. John asked me for my thoughts as the camera was rolling. I loved it just like the first time back in the bar at Charleroi. I was now well and truly bitten by the TV bug.
         
 
         But you could see the crater and the scorch marks in the earth. The blood from the bandages where Kam had died was still there. Things like this happen, as sad as it was. In my head I wasn’t carrying the same baggage as the day before but I still knew it was time to go home. A translator called Huwer approached us and said that, with all eyes on Baghdad, he could take John and Tom to Kifri. John was adamant that he wanted to continue and told me to go home. Fred was already on his way and Dragan too wanted to see his baby for the first time.
 
         I was split – my responsibility was to John but he had ordered me back. I also had to look out for Fred and Dragan. Ultimately, I took my lead from John: if he said go, then go I would.
 
         On 11 April, we were driving home, overland to the border and on via Istanbul. It had been the right call to go. On the 9th, the Yanks staged the money shot of the toppling of Saddam’s statue. John hadn’t made it in time for the fall of Baghdad but, my goodness, in chasing the story he found himself at the heart of it. As for me, what I was asked to do next couldn’t have been more extreme.
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